IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2011-M-00358-SCT

CHASE HOME FINANCE, L.L.C. AND PRIORITY TRUSTEE SERVICES OF MISSISSIPPI, L.L.C.

APPELLANTS-DEFENDANTS

VS.

JAMES D. HOBSON, JR.

APPELLEE-PLAINTIFF

On Interlocutory Appeal from the Circuit Court of Warren County, Mississippi, Ninth Judicial District (Cause No. 10,0001-CI)

BRIEF FOR APPELLANTS CHASE HOME FINANCE, L.L.C. AND PRIORITY TRUSTEE SERVICES OF MISSISSIPPI, L.L.C.

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

BAKER, DONELSON, BEARMAN, CALDWELL & BERKOWITZ, PC C. LEE LOTT III (MS BAPALICIA S. HALL (MS Bar 44268 I-55 North Meadowbrook Office Park Jackson, MS 39211 Telephone: (601) 351-2400 Facsimile: (601) 351-2424

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The general issue presented is whether the Circuit Court erred in affirming the grant of the Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment as to liability for breach of contract. The specific issues presented are:

- 1. If a borrower reinstates a Deed of Trust shortly before a foreclosure sale, is the sale absolute, even though the prospective buyer is charged with constructive notice of all title issues?
- 2. Does a live foreclosure auction encompass a valid "offer" and "acceptance" such that an oral contract for the sale of land is formed, even if a receipt is provided to a bidder evidencing the intent of the parties regarding the risk of reinstatement by a borrower?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is an interlocutory appeal from The Honorable Isadore W. Patrick's Order affirming the Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment as to liability. R.E. 2; R. 199-200.¹ The underlying suit is a breach of contract action arising out of a public foreclosure sale that occurred on March 20, 2008, at the Warren County, Mississippi courthouse. R.E. 5; R. 5-8. James D. Hobson, Jr. ("Hobson") appeared at the foreclosure sale and offered the highest cash bid for the subject property, tendering a cashier's check for \$60,948.82 to the agent hired to conduct the foreclosure sale. *Id.*; R.E. 20; R. 84. Shortly thereafter, Chase Home Finance, L.L.C. ("Chase"), Priority Trustee Services of Mississippi, L.L.C. ("Priority"), (collectively "Chase/Priority") and/or their agents, returned Hobson's check to him. R.E. 5, 10; R. 7, ¶ 8, 89, ¶ 5. The borrower under the Deed of Trust, Deborah Hood Quimby ("Quimby"), (R.E. 16; R. 29-35) reinstated her loan shortly before the foreclosure sale, voiding the sale. R.E. 10; R. 88.

Hobson complained that the contract could not be voided, and he moved for summary judgment based on the bona fide purchaser doctrine and his contention that the parties entered a valid and binding contract. R.E. 8; R. 60. The primary issue on appeal is whether the lower court should have granted summary judgment to Hobson based on the evidence before it. The Circuit Court's Order does not explain its rationale for affirming the decision of the County Court as to liability for breach of contract. The Order simply finds "(1) that a contract between the Appellee and Appellants did exist and (2) that the Appellants [Chase/Priority] had breached said contract." R.E. 2; R. 199.

¹ Citations to documents within the clerk's papers are as follows: Record Excerpts of Appellants are cited as R.E. [tab number]; Record Citations are cited as R. [page number]; Transcript of the Circuit Court hearing are cited as Tr. [page number].

The Courts below have erroneously applied the law to the unique set of facts involved in this case. Triable issues of fact remain disputed, and in spite of these disputes, the Circuit Court affirmed summary judgment in favor of Hobson. This Court's review of the Circuit Court's Order, via interlocutory appeal, provides the opportunity to rectify the flawed legal basis for summary judgment.

B. Course of the Proceedings and Disposition in the Courts Below

Hobson filed a Complaint in the County Court of Warren County on April 24, 2008, claiming breach of contract, and claiming that the breach was so tortious that it entitled Hobson to punitive damages. R.E. 5; R. 5-8. Petitioners filed separate Answers denying the allegations (R. 12-24), and before any discovery was conducted, Hobson filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on September 12, 2008. R.E. 6-8; R. 25-65. Priority removed the case to federal court on September 24, 2008 (R. 66), and it was remanded to state court on August 31, 2009. R. 72. No discovery was conducted while the issue of remand was being decided. Chase/Priority opposed Hobson's Motion for Summary Judgment in briefing on September 9, 2009. R.E. 9-11; R. 73-100.

Hobson's Motion for Summary Judgment set forth his "Itemization of Facts Relied Upon and Not Genuinely Disputed." R.E. 7; R. 54-56. These allegedly undisputed facts included:

- the fact that Quimby executed a Deed of Trust, and the details therein;
- the fact that the Deed of Trust was assigned to Chase Home Finance, L.L.C.;
- the fact that Quimby defaulted in paying the loan secured by the Deed of Trust;
- the fact that Chase substituted Priority as its Trustee in the land records, authorizing and directing Priority to exercise the power of sale contained in the Deed of Trust by conducting a public foreclosure sale of the subject property;
- the fact that the Substitute Trustee's Notice of Sale was advertised in The Vicksburg Post with an indication of the date, time and terms of the foreclosure sale;

- the fact that Hobson personally appeared at the foreclosure sale and made the highest cash bid for the property;
- the fact that Hobson delivered a Regions Bank cashier's check for \$60,948.82, which was accepted by Chase/Priority and/or their agent;
- the fact that Chase/Priority did not tender a trustee's deed to Hobson;
- the fact that Chase/Priority did not deliver possession of the subject property to Hobson; and
- the fact that Chase/Priority and/or their agent returned the cashier's check to Hobson no more than two weeks after the sale, with a letter explaining that Quimby had cured her default prior to the foreclosure sale.

R.E. 7; R. 54-56.

In support of these factual contentions, Hobson attached the following documentation to his Motion for Summary Judgment:

- the Deed of Trust, R.E. 15; R. 29-35;
- the Assignment of the Deed of Trust, R.E. 16; R. 36;
- the Substitution of Trustee, R.E. 17; R. 37-38; and
- the Affidavit of James D. Hobson, R.E. 18; R. 39-41.

Noticeably absent from Hobson's supporting documentation are the following:

- the Notice of Sale from The Vicksburg Post;
- a written contract for the purchase of the subject property (because such a contract does not exist); and
- the letter sent to Hobson by Chase/Priority, returning the check.

Although the Notice of Sale and the letter are referenced as Exhibits to Hobson's Affidavit, they are absent from the record, and the only significance that should be imputed to them on appeal is the importance of their absence. The Circuit Court did not have these documents available to it in determining whether summary judgment was appropriately granted. In fact, there is no proof that they were ever filed.

In response to Hobson's Motion for Summary Judgment, Chase/Priority filed their own "Material Facts as to Which No Genuine Issue Remains to be Tried." R.E. 10; R. 88-90. The following facts differ from Hobson's statement of the facts, and they establish disputed issues of material fact:

- "Prior to the foreclosure sale of the property, Ms. Quimby complied with all reinstatement requirements that were conveyed to her." R. 88;
- "After the crying of the foreclosure, Plaintiff was given a receipt." R. 89;
- "Th[e] terms of the receipt specifically reserve the ability to void the sale based on a timely reinstatement." R. 89; and
- "Plaintiff's tender was returned to him pursuant to the receipt." R. 89.

Chase/Priority provided the following documentation to refute Hobson's contention that no issues of material fact existed:

- the Affidavit of LaShun Palmer, Reinstatement/Payoff Representative, R.E. 19; R. 81-83; and
- the Receipt, stating that the law firm and/or its agent received a cashier's or official bank check in the amount of \$60,948.82 from Hobson, and which contained the following language: "This receipt is issued in connection with the foreclosure sale of the above-referenced property and is subject to the terms stated, as part of the sale. The sale will not be considered final until all requirements have been met and may be withdrawn based on a timely reinstatement and/or by an order of the Bankruptcy Court." R.E. 20; R. 84 (emphasis added).

By "Supplemental Opinion" on November 10, 2009, the County Court granted Summary Judgment to Hobson, providing attorney's fees based on gross negligence. R.E. 4; R. 105. The County Court entered a more detailed Judgment on December 1, 2009, finding that Hobson was entitled to (1) summary judgment based on undisputed material facts, (2) compensation reflecting the difference between the appraisal value of the property and the amount attempted to be paid by the Plaintiff, (3) prejudgment interest from the date of the foreclosure sale, and (4) attorney's fees based on a finding that the "Defendants' breach was grossly negligent and

therefore amounted to an independent tort." R.E. 3; R. 108-09. The total County Court judgment was \$105,919.78. *Id*.

On December 7, 2009, Petitioners retained the undersigned counsel to prosecute an appeal. R. 106. Petitioners timely appealed the County Court decision to the Circuit Court of Warren County, in accordance with section 11-51-79 of the Mississippi Code. R. 112-113.

Following briefing, oral argument, and correction of certain clerical errors in the initial versions of the Order, the Circuit Court issued its Order affirming the liability portion of the County Court's decision. R.E. 2; R. 199-200. The Circuit Court affirmed the County Court decision that there was a contract between the parties, and that Chase/Priority breached that contract. *Id.* The Circuit Court reversed the decision as to damages, however, leaving damages to a jury. *Id.* Accordingly, Chase/Priority do not include any argument regarding damages in this brief, although they anticipate response to this issue on Cross-Appeal.

The current disposition of this case is that a jury trial will go forward with liability for breach of contract judicially predetermined. The liability issue will have been judicially predetermined in spite of fact issues regarding (1) Hobson's notice that the property could be reinstated, (2) the validity of an oral contract between the parties, and (3) presuming a valid contract is found, the terms of the contract.

C. Statement of the Facts

Deborah Hood Quimby a/k/a Deborah Hood Weatherford ("Quimby") executed a Deed of Trust in 1996 for property in Warren County, Mississippi. R.E. 15; R. 29-35. The property was assigned to Chase, and Chase appointed Priority as Substitute Trustee. R.E. 16-17; R. 36-38. Priority was authorized to exercise the power of sale contained in the Deed of Trust by conducting a public foreclosure sale on behalf of Chase. *Id*.

Quimby's delinquent mortgage payments led to the property being scheduled for a foreclosure sale in 2008. R.E. 19; R. 82. The property was offered for sale on March 20, 2008 at the Warren County Courthouse. *Id.* Hobson appeared at the foreclosure sale and offered the highest cash bid, which was \$60,948.82, and he tendered a cashier's check for this amount. R.E. 20; R. 84. Hobson was provided with a receipt that stated: "[t]he sale will not be considered final until all requirements have been met and may be withdrawn based on a timely reinstatement and/or by an order of the Bankruptcy Court." *Id.* The parties dispute whether the receipt was provided at the foreclosure sale, or several days after the sale. *See* Affidavit of LaShun Palmer, R.E. 19; R. 82 ("after the sale, a receipt was given"); Brief of Appellees to Circuit Court, R.E. 13; R. 152 ("receipt," which was issued to Hobson *several days after* the conclusion of the foreclosure sale and payment of the purchase price.") (emphasis in original, although there is no record evidence that supports this "several days" timeline).

Unbeknownst to the agent that cried the foreclosure sale or to Hobson, Quimby reinstated her loan shortly before the foreclosure sale. R.E. 19; R. 82. While an agent of Chase/Priority took reasonable steps to cancel the crying of the foreclosure sale, the agent's communication was unsuccessful and the sale was cried. *Id.* No more than two weeks later, Chase/Priority returned Hobson's check to him and refused to deliver a Deed of Trust or possession of the property, as it was no long Chase/Priority's property to convey. R.E. 10; R. 89.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Chase/Priority respectfully request oral argument. While application of the law to this case should be relatively straightforward – Hobson was required to show that no genuine issues of material fact existed, and he failed to do so – oral argument may be helpful in resolving the issues of whether a foreclosure sale purchaser is charged with notice of possible rescission based on a borrower's right to reinstate, and whether an oral contract for the sale of land constitutes a binding contract, even where a writing evidences contrary intent of the parties. These issues are vitally important at a time when foreclosure sales are, unfortunately, frequent. Borrowers, lenders, trustees, and prospective foreclosure sale purchasers will benefit from this Court's clear guidance and comprehensive examination of these issues.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mississippi does not have clear case precedent addressing the rare situation of a last-minute reinstatement by a borrower prior to a live foreclosure auction, where the reinstatement is not communicated to the prospective purchaser before a bid is accepted. Hobson even believes that this case presents "an issue of first impression in Mississippi." R.E. 8; R. 60. Indeed, Hobson relied almost exclusively on another jurisdiction's case law throughout briefing: *Udall v. T.D. Escrow Services, Inc.*, 154 P.3d 882, 912 (Wash. 2007). Reliance on Washington's jurisprudence is unnecessary. Mississippi contract law and property law are dispositive, and need only be clarified under this set of circumstances.

Both the County Court and Circuit Court misunderstood how contract law applies to this case. It seems that the courts attempted to apply traditional contract principles without giving deference to the fact that real property was an element of this alleged transaction. As real property is detailed in public records, a claimant is charged with notice of title issues and defects. Moreover, even under traditional contract principles, the courts misapprehended important rules of contract law regarding the intent of the parties, ignoring the single piece of writing that evidenced intent as to reinstatement.

This interlocutory appeal provides this Court with the opportunity to specifically charge a foreclosure sale purchaser with notice of public records, and the conditions and terms in those public records. This appeal also provides this Court with a unique set of facts, under which traditional principles of contract interpretation must still be upheld. Finally, this appeal should serve as clarification for our State's trial courts about the nature of material facts in a case such as this, and a reminder that where disputed issues of material fact exist, summary judgment is not allowed.

-9-

ARGUMENT

A. Summary judgment is inappropriate when genuine issues of material fact regarding notice and contract formation remain.

A grant of summary judgment is subject to *de novo* review by the appellate court. *See Albert v. Scott's Truck Plaza, Inc.*, 978 So. 2d 1264, 1266 (Miss. 2008) (citing *Green v. Allendale Planting Co.*, 954 So. 2d 1032, 1037 (Miss. 2007); *Hurdle v. Holloway*, 848 So. 2d 183, 185 (Miss. 2003)). When conducting its analysis, this Court will view all evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *See Miller v. Meeks*, 762 So. 2d 302, 304 (Miss. 2000). If there are indeed triable issues of fact, a trial court's summary judgment order will be reversed. *Id.* In determining whether the lower court's entry of summary judgment was appropriate, this Court should make its own determinations on the motion, "separate and apart from that of the trial court." *Matthews v. Horseshoe Casino*, 919 So. 2d 278, 280 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). If "the undisputed facts can support more than one interpretation, the Court will not hesitate to reverse and remand for a trial on the merits." *Canizaro v. Mobile Communications Corp. of America*, 655 So. 2d 25, 28-29 (Miss. 1995).

The standard for summary judgment is well established. Pursuant to Rule 56 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, summary judgment should only be entered in cases where "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue of material fact . . ." Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c). "[S]ummary judgment is not a substitute for the trial of disputed fact issues," . . . and "it cannot be used to deprive a litigant of a full trial on genuine issues of fact." *Id.* at Rule 56, cmt. Consequently, the movant carries the burden of establishing that no genuine issue of material fact exists. *Miller v. Meeks*, 762 So. 2d at 304.

Issues of fact sufficient to require a denial of a motion for summary judgment "are obviously present where one party swears to one version of the matter in issue and another says the opposite." *Miller v. Meeks*, 762 So. 2d at 304. According to this Court,

[a]n issue of fact may be present where there is more than one reasonable interpretation of undisputed testimony, where materially different but reasonable inferences may be drawn from uncontradicted evidentiary facts, or when the purported establishment of the facts has been sufficiently incomplete or inadequate that the trial judge cannot say with reasonable confidence that the full facts of the matter have been disclosed.

Id. at 304-05.

The party opposing summary judgment need only "establish a genuine issue of material fact by the means available under the rule." *Matthews v. Horseshoe Casino*, 919 So. 2d 278, 280 (citing *Lowery v. Guaranty Bank and Trust Company*, 592 So. 2d 79, 81 (Miss. 1991); *Galloway v. Travelers Insurance Co.*, 515 So. 2d 678, 682 (Miss. 1987)). The existence of a genuine issue of material fact precludes summary judgment. *Massey v. Tingle*, 867 So.2d 235, 238 (Miss. 2004). The trial court must give the non-movant "the benefit of the doubt." *McCullough v. Cook*, 679 So. 2d 627, 630 (Miss. 1996).

Finally, where evidence is "not made known to the trial court for its decision on summary judgment, it should not be considered on *de novo* review of the trial court's decision on summary judgment." *U.S. Fidelity and Guar. Co. of Miss. v. Martin*, 998 So. 2d 956, 961 (Miss. 2008) (citing *Mitchell v. Nelson*, 830 So. 2d 635, 640 (Miss. 2002)). Disputed issues of material fact are apparent when the record of this appeal is considered alone.

Summary judgment in favor of Hobson, especially without discovery that might have resolved some of the disputed issues of fact, was inappropriate. Disputed questions of fact include: (1) whether Hobson had constructive notice that the property could be reinstated, (2)

whether a contract existed, and (3) if a valid contract existed, what the terms of that contract were.

This Court should not hesitate to reverse the lower courts' findings that no genuine issue of material fact existed. Chase/Priority submitted evidence, through Affidavit (R.E. 19; R. 81-83) and a receipt from the subject transaction (R.E. 20; R. 84), that refuted Hobson's "Facts Relied Upon and Not Genuine Disputed." The Circuit court did not give Chase/Priority the benefit of the doubt to which they were entitled, and the Circuit Court's Order should be reversed.

B. Foreclosure sales are not absolute sales, especially where a purchaser has constructive notice that the sale may be voided by a borrower's last-minute reinstatement.

This case calls for application not only of contract law, but also real property law. One cannot claim to be a bona fide purchaser, having no notice of an adverse claim, when public land records and industry knowledge prove otherwise. Moreover, foreclosure sales can be conditioned on a procedural irregularity, like a borrower's reinstatement.

1. Hobson is not a bona fide purchaser because he had constructive notice of Ouimby's right to reinstate.

Hobson has consistently argued that he is a bona fide purchaser. See Complaint, R.E. 5, ¶ 9; R. 7 ("Plaintiff is a bona fide purchaser for value without notice of any alleged cure of default."); Plaintiff's Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment, R.E. 8, R. 60 ("Plaintiff is a bona fide purchaser. . . ").

Under Mississippi law, "a purchaser in good faith for a valuable consideration and without notice of the prior adverse claims is protected against certain suits brought by the holders of such claims." West Center Apartments Ltd. v. Keyes, 371 So.2d 854, 856 (Miss. 1979). The essential elements of the bona fide purchaser rule are: (1) valuable consideration, (2) the absence of notice, and (3) the presence of good faith. Id.

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