# 2011-IA-00358 E 2011-IA-00358 E

Cert	ificate of Interested Persons	ii
Tabl	e of Authorities	iii
State	ement of the Issues	1
State	ement of the Case	2
Cou	rse of Proceedings	2
Statement of the Facts		3
State	ement Regarding Oral Argument	6
Summary of the Argument		7
Response to Argument		9
1.	If a borrower reinstates a Deed of Trust shortly before a foreclosure sale, is the sale absolute even though the prospective buyer is charged with constructive notice of all title issues?	9

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Chase contends that (a) the "receipt" delivered after the foreclosure sale is factual evidence that the parties intended the foreclosure sale to be conditional and (b) Hobson had constructive notice that the completed foreclosure sale could be nullified in the event that Quimby cured her default. In order for the "receipt" to be evidence of the parties' intent, it is elementary that both parties must have notice of the terms of the "receipt" prior to or at the time the sale was made.

Chase has presented no evidence that even remotely suggests that the "receipt" was given to Hobson before he placed his bid or before the Trustee accepted Hobson's bid on the courthouse steps. In fact, Chase's affidavit specifically states that the "receipt" was issued to someone after the foreclosure sale. (R 81-83). Furthermore, the receipt itself is evidence that it could not have been prepared until after the foreclosure sale since it identifies the successful purchaser and the bid amount that was paid and accepted by Chase. Chase also failed to present any evidence that the published notice of sale contained notice that the sale would be conditional in any respect or that the individual who called the sale on behalf of the trustee indicated that the offer to sell the property was conditional or that the trustee was reserving any right to later rescind the sale. Chase provided no evidence to contradict that an unconditional offer to sell to the highest bidder for cash was made, which offer was accepted by Hobson.

Secondly, Chase points to no language in the recorded Quimby deed of trust that supports Chases's contention that Hobson had constructive notice that a completed foreclosure sale was contingent or conditional. Furthermore, Chase cites no authority for the proposition that the reinstatement provisions in the Quimby deed of trust provided constructive notice that the foreclosure sale was intended to be conditional. Contrarily, the reinstatement provision of the deed of trust simply reiterates the mortgagor's right to stop a foreclosure sale by curing the default prior

to the sale. The fact that Chase's agent appeared on the courthouse steps and actually conducted the foreclosure sale, clearly induced Hobson to believe that the borrower **had not exercised her right** to reinstate her loan at the time of the foreclosure sale and that Chase had full authority to sell the property.

Chase has cited no law suggesting that a mortgagee should not be liable in damages if it conducts a foreclosure sale despite knowledge that the mortgagor had cured the default. Chase argues that Quimby's "eleventh hour" reinstatement left it insufficient time to notify the auctioneer of the reinstatement. Without any citation of authority, Chase argues that this is a "procedural irregularity" that relieves it of liability for breach of its obligations to Hobson. However, Chase presented no evidence to prove when the reinstatement occurred. In fact, it is clear from the record that Chase *does not know* when Quimby reinstated.

Chase should not be allowed to complain about any lack of opportunity to conduct discovery in the trial court. At no time in the course of proceedings before the county court did Chase propound any discovery requests or seek to take any depositions. Nor did they, after receiving notice of hearing on Hobson's motion for summary judgment, file a motion under Miss.R.Civ.P. 56(f) seeking additional time so that they could conduct discovery.

Finally, the damages awarded to Hobson by the county court, and remanded for trial by the circuit court, should be reinstated. Chase only contested liability in the trial court, and never contested Hobson's evidence of damages or attorney fees. Therefore, the circuit court had no basis to remand this case for trial on the issue of damages.

#### ARGUMENT

- 1. If a borrower reinstates a Deed of Trust shortly before a foreclosure sale, is the sale absolute even though the prospective buyer is charged with constructive notice of all title issues?
- 2. Does a live foreclosure auction encompass a valid "offer" and "acceptance" such that an oral contract for the sale of land is formed, even if a "receipt" is provided to a bidder, evidencing the intent of the parties regarding the risk of reinstatement by a borrower?

Although Chase presents these two issues separately, Hobson will respond to them as one issue.

Chase asserts on appeal that the county court erred in granting summary judgment for Hobson because of some alleged disputed material term of the contract and because of an alleged factual dispute relating to whether the Plaintiff had notice that the foreclosure sale was conditioned upon the reinstatement of the subject loan. These assertions appear to be based in part upon a "receipt" that was issued to someone *after* the foreclosure sale. The "receipt" was also obviously issued after payment of the purchase price since it *acknowledges receipt* of the purchase price. The receipt contained the following language:

Received from: J. Mack Varner and James D. Hobson, Jr., whose address is 1903 E-Mission 66, Vicksburg, MS 39180, whose phone numbers are 601-636-0502 and 601-638-8741, the amount of \$60,948.82 which was the actual purchase price as bid, to purchase the property located at the following address: 101 Rollingwood Drive, Vicksburg MS. Which property is more particularly identified by it's (sic) legal description contained in the Notice of Sale. This receipt is issued in connection with the foreclosure sale of the above-referenced property and is subject to the terms stated, as part of the sale. The sale will not be considered final until all requirements have been met and may be withdrawn based on a timely re-instatement (sic) and/or by an order of the Bankruptcy Court. By Cashier's or Official Bank Check #310698445 Made payable to: Morris, Chneider & Prior, LLC, by: (signature illegible) Received on behalf of Morris, Schneider & Prior, LLC (R. 84)

Chase now contends that the "receipt" is evidence that both parties intended the foreclosure

sale to be conditional. In its brief Chase makes the following statement.

No written contract exists, and the receipt is the sole piece of writing in this record, revealing the parties' intent. This intent is a question of fact for a jury, not a question of law that should have been decided in summary judgment. A reasonable fact-finder could find that the receipt's reinstatement provision evidences the intent of the parties to accept the risk of reinstatement and the contract-voiding consequences of the same. Chase Brief p. 19.

Although Chase's argument is difficult to follow, it appears that Chase is contending that Hobson placed his bid and paid the purchase price with notice of the terms of the "receipt." Stated differently, Chase is contending that the receipt is evidence of what both parties intended when they made their contract at the foreclosure sale. In order for this to be the case, it is obvious that both parties must at least have notice of the terms of the receipt at the time the sale was made. In support of this argument, Chase now belatedly claims that "the parties dispute whether the receipt was provided at the foreclosure sale." (Chase Brief, p. 7). Chase's representations and contentions in its brief regarding delivery of the receipt are obviously not supported by the trial court record.\footnote{1}

nd contended

Specifically, there is nothing in Chase's affidavit filed in response to Hobson's Motion for Summary Judgment that even remotely suggests that the "receipt" was given to Hobson before Hobson placed his bid or before the Trustee accepted Hobson's bid on the courthouse steps. Rather, Chase's cryptic affidavit plainly says: "that *after the sale*, a receipt was given that noted that a timely reinstatement could cancel the sale." (R 81-83). The affidavit does not suggest that Hobson had notice of the provisions of the receipt prior to or during the sale. In fact, the affidavit does not even state that the receipt was given *to Hobson* at any time.

See specifically, Chase's Rebuttal Brief in the Circuit Court wherein Chase states, "The main point that the Plaintiff uses to distract the Court is whether the "receipt" in this case was provided before or after the foreclosure sale." "Obviously, most receipts are provided after sales, and the Defendants do not refute that." (R.161). (Emphasis added).

Furthermore, as discussed above, the receipt itself is evidence that it could not have been prepared until after the foreclosure sale was complete and the purchase price paid. Specifically, the receipt identifies the successful purchaser at the sale and the bid amount that was paid and accepted by Chase. It is elementary that this information would not have been known before or during the sale. It does not take one educated in rocket science to figure out that this receipt could not have been prepared and given to Hobson before he proffered his bid or before his bid was accepted or before the bid amount was paid. Consequently, Chase's contention that any language in the receipt reflects any intention of the parties before or at the time of the foreclosure sale is simply beyond rational comprehension.

Chase's affidavit also did not claim that the published notice of sale (which offered the property for sale to the highest bidder for cash) contained notice that the sale would be conditional in any respect. Chase in its brief makes much ado about the inadvertent omission of the published notice of sale which was intended to be an attachment to Hobson's affidavit in support of this Motion for Summary Judgment (R 39)(Chase's Brief, p. 4). Chase did not complain in the lower court about the accidental omission of the published notice. More to the point, Chase never filed anything in the trial court to controvert Hobson's statement in his affidavit that the published notice indicated only "that the property would be sold for cash to the highest bidder" (R 39).

Lastly, and importantly, Chase's affidavit does not state that the individual who called the sale on behalf of the trustee indicated that the offer to sell the property was conditional or that the trustee was reserving any right to later rescind the sale. Chase provided no evidence to contradict that an unconditional offer to sell to the highest bidder for cash was made, which offer was accepted by Hobson.

Chase cites Franklin Life Ins. Co. v. Hamilton, 335 So.2d 119 (Miss. 1976) in support of its

argument that the receipt in this case evidenced the parties' intent for the contract to be conditional. However, *Hamilton* deals with a "conditional receipt" given *prior to* issuance of a life insurance contract. Hamilton applied for a life insurance policy, paid the first month's premium, and was provided with a "conditional receipt" which outlined the procedure for approval. The receipt stated that any insurance contract *would not take effect* until Hamilton's medical report was received and approved and the policy delivered to him. *Id.* at 120-121. In other words, Hamilton clearly had notice that there would be no contract of insurance until he underwent a physical examination and the results of said examination were approved by the insurance company.

The facts in Hamilton are clearly distinguishable. In Hamilton, the "conditional receipt" was given to Hamilton before a contract of insurance was entered into. Contrarily, in the case at bar, Chase has provided no evidence that the "receipt" was provided before the parties made the contract for purchase and sale of the property on the courthouse steps or before Hobson fully performed his part of the contract by payment of the purchase price. Rather, Chase's affidavit and the receipt itself clearly show that the receipt was given after the foreclosure sale. (R 81-84).

Based on the undisputed facts, the lower courts determined that the offer and acceptance, coupled with performance on Hobson's part, created a valid and binding contract, which Chase and Priority could neither alter nor unilaterally rescind based on language in a receipt given to Hobson after the sale.<sup>2</sup> Common sense tells us that "only by express reservation announced prior to the sale can the seller reserve the right to review and reject bids after the auctioneer closes the sale" *Udall* v. T.D. Escrow Services, Inc., 154 P.3d 882, 912 (Wash. 2007). Therefore, in order to avoid

The fact that said receipt may have been *drafted* prior to the sale, as Chase and Priority contended on appeal to Circuit Court, is completely irrelevant. (R.142).

summary judgment on the theory that the sale was conditional, Chase necessarily was required to present some evidence that it gave Hobson notice that the sale was conditional when the offer to sell was published in the newspaper, or at the public auction *before* bids were solicited, *or before* Hobson placed his bid, *or before* the trustee's agent accepted Hobson's bid and announced that the property was sold to Hobson on the courthouse steps, *or before* the purchase price was paid and received by Chase. Obviously, the record here does not support Chase's contention that the "receipt" raises any genuine issue of material fact as to a "disputed material term" of the contract or as to the parties "intent."

Obviously, in order to survive summary judgment, Chase was obligated to present evidence by affidavit, or other means recognized by Rule 56, supporting the notion that Hobson had prior notice that the property was being offered for sale subject to some contingency. Although Chase filed an affidavit in support of its own motion for summary judgment, the affiant did not testify therein that Hobson had prior notice that the sale was conditional. Chase is not entitled to reversal solely to permit them a second bite at the apple. Having failed to demonstrate the existence of a genuine issue of material fact in the lower court and on appeal to the Circuit Court, another opportunity to attempt to do so is clearly not permissible under applicable law.

Further, Mississippi Code Ann. §13-3-187 provides in pertinent part that "the officer making the sale *shall*, on payment of the purchase-money, execute to the purchaser a conveyance which shall vest in the purchaser all the right, title and interest which the defendant had in and to such lands." *Id.* (emphasis added). Although Chase said it intended to conduct a conditional foreclosure sale, the foregoing statute does not leave room for conditional foreclosure sales. The *Udall* case discussed above involved a very similar statute and is almost directly on point. In *Udall*, as in the instant case, Udall purchased property at a foreclosure sale and was given a receipt for his purchase by the

auctioneer. 154 P.3d at 885. When the trustee discovered that the auctioneer had opened bids One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000.00) lower than authorized, it refused to deliver a deed to Udall, and instead issued Udall a refund of the purchase price. *Id.* at 886. Udall sued and the trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Udall. *Id.* The Washington Supreme Court affirmed the trial court after analysis of a state statute that reads, in pertinent part, "the trustee or its authorized agent *shall* sell the property at public auction to the highest bidder . . . [purchaser] shall forthwith pay the purchase price bid and on payment the trustee *shall* execute [the deed]" (emphasis added). *Id.* at 887. The court found that this language imposed an obligation on the trustee to sell the property to the highest bidder and to execute the deed to the highest bidder. *Id.* The court further found that the delivery of the deed to the purchaser is a ministerial act, symbolizing conveyance of property rights to the purchaser. *Id.* 

The *Udall* court further stated that, acceptance at auction is "commonly signified by the fall of the hammer or by the auctioneer's announcement 'Sold," after which the "sale is consummated and neither party can withdraw." *Id.* at 912. Only by express reservation announced prior to the sale can the seller reserve the right to review and reject bids after the auctioneer closes the sale. *Id.* "T.D. made no such reservation." *Id.* "When auctioneer Hayes announced "sold," Hayes accepted Udall's bid on T.D.'s behalf and a contract was formed." *Id.* "T.D. could not re-exercise its power of acceptance to reject Udall's bid when it later discovered the erroneous opening bid amount." *Id.* Similarly, neither Chase nor Hobson had the privilege of withdrawing from the sale after the sale was complete.

Alternatively, Chase says Hobson placed his bid with "constructive notice" that the foreclosure sale could be invalid. (Chase Brief, p. 12-14). To support this theory, Chase states in its brief that Hobson "has been a licensed appraiser, real estate broker, and real estate developer in

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